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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The Committee on

          3  Health is now in session. This is a joint hearing

          4  with the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

          5  Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

          6                 Let me before I read my opening

          7  statement, and then ask the Chair of the

          8  Subcommittee if she has an opening statement to also

          9  deliver.

         10                 Let me take the time, because again,

         11  our dilemma during this very hectic month, there are

         12  other committees that are going on at the same time

         13  and so let me introduce the Council Members who are

         14  present and they will be coming and going, and

         15  please understand that this is not the only hearing

         16  going on at this time.

         17                 Let me begin with my -- well, he is

         18  the ranking member now, because other than me he is

         19  next in line, the distinguished colleague from the

         20  Bronx, Council Member Jose Rivera, the ranking

         21  minority member of this Committee, the Republican,

         22  my friend on the other side of the aisle, Council

         23  Member Jim Oddo. Of course, the Chair of the

         24  Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental Retardation

         25  and Alcoholism Services, my colleague Council Member
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          2  Una Clarke. I am Council Member Victor Robles, and I

          3  am the chair of the Committee on Health.

          4                 Good afternoon, and welcome to

          5  today's oversight hearing on Kendra's Law and the

          6  relevant funding issues.

          7                 We have all heard of the tragic story

          8  of Kendra Webdale, for whom the law was named.

          9                 Kendra was pushed in front of a

         10  subway train to her death by a young man who was

         11  later identified as being mentally ill and in need

         12  of care.

         13                 Edgar Rivera, another victim of a

         14  mentally ill assailant, was seriously injured when

         15  he, too, was pushed in front of a train. As a result

         16  of these incidents, the State Legislature passed the

         17  assisted outpatient treatment law, or better known

         18  as Kendra's law. Among other things, this law

         19  provides for assisted outpatient treatment of

         20  certainly mentally ill people, who in view of their

         21  treatment history, and present circumstances are

         22  unlikely to survive safely in the community without

         23  supervision.

         24                 It establishes a procedure for

         25  obtaining court orders for certain mentally ill

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            5

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  individuals to receive and accept outpatient

          3  treatment for their illness. Prescribed treatment is

          4  set forth in their written treatment plan prepared

          5  by a physician who has examined the individual.

          6                 The procedures involve a hearing in

          7  which all of the evidence, including testimony from

          8  the physicians, and if desired, from the person

          9  alleged to need treatment is presented to the court.

         10                 This law took effect November the

         11  8th, 1999.

         12                 However, when the State Legislature

         13  enacted this legislation and the Governor signed

         14  this bill into law, there was no money appropriated

         15  for its implementation.

         16                 It will cost the City of New York

         17  approximately $5.4 million to implement this law

         18  until April of the Year 2000.

         19                 However, we all know that Albany

         20  never passes a budget on time, so we can assume that

         21  the cost of implementing this law will be more than

         22  the projected amount.

         23                 The purpose of this hearing is to

         24  highlight the need for state funding and this law

         25  will affect New York City the most, since the
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          2  majority of the mentally ill live in the City.

          3                 Provisions of Kendra's Law are

          4  complicated and they will not be cheap. Again, the

          5  question is, when will the State pay, and how much?

          6                 We also need to keep in mind that

          7  Kendra's Law is a short-term solution to isolated

          8  violent acts committed by persons who were mentally

          9  ill. However, the majority of the mentally ill, when

         10  properly supervised by health professionals can lead

         11  healthy and productive lives.

         12                 In the long-term, what is needed is

         13  more assisted housing programs, more case managers

         14  and more funding for mental health services in

         15  general.

         16                 Before I announce our first witness,

         17  I would like to say that at some point in the next

         18  hour or so, Edgar Rivera, the young man from the

         19  Bronx, whose tragic case helped push Kendra's Law

         20  through Albany, will be joining us here today, and

         21  he will testify.

         22                 Before I call on Commissioner Neal

         23  Cohen, let me then yield to my distinguished

         24  colleague, the Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental

         25  Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services,
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          2  Chair of that Committee, Council Member Una Clarke.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman.

          5                 Commissioner, and all the persons

          6  here present, as you know, since I was made the

          7  Chair of this Subcommittee, as a matter of fact,

          8  inherited it from Council Member Rivera, who gave me

          9  all of the orientation towards sharing this

         10  Committee, that I have stood closely with the mental

         11  health community, have made myself a student of

         12  issues concerning mental health in order to be an

         13  appropriate advocate and legislator who will make

         14  sure that unbalance, the stigma that surrounds

         15  mental illness and the people who are mentally ill,

         16  who are not prone to do more violence than anyone

         17  who would have road rage and hurt somebody on the

         18  highway, but usually these cases become dramatic

         19  enough that the public outcry is that we do

         20  something. And if Kendra's Law is only about doing

         21  something without really taking into consideration

         22  all of the complicated issues around mental illness

         23  and provide the kind of services that will have

         24  people who are mentally ill be maintained on their

         25  medication and under proper supervision and proper
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          2  case management, all of this will be but naut.

          3                 I have stood closely with the agency

          4  to make sure we push the state to provide additional

          5  support housing under New York New York Agreement,

          6  and I think that 1,500 slots cannot fulfill 15,000

          7  slots. So, whatever we do and wherever we go, we

          8  have to make sure that the mentally ill and the

          9  stigma surrounding mental illness does not get so

         10  sensationalized that we forget the very unique need

         11  of persons who are mentally ill, many of whom have

         12  full employment, many of whom once on their

         13  medication, functions as well as those of use,

         14  quote, who are not mentally ill, and we should draw

         15  strength from their participation and the taxes that

         16  they pay to make sure that we provide sensitive

         17  services.

         18                 So, I am pleased to join my

         19  colleague, the Chair of Health, today as we look for

         20  solutions and stop placing blames.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I omitted

         23  something, and I apologize, I did introduce my

         24  colleagues and I will continue to do it as they

         25  come, but let me also, for those who don't know, I
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          2  want you all to know the who is who of these

          3  committees, and in our absence who you should reach

          4  out to.

          5                 In terms of the Committee on Health,

          6  the counsel who oversees that Committee is my

          7  counsel, Jose Orengo, and the Counsel assigned to

          8  the Subcommittee, who the distinguished chair works

          9  with, is Carl Smith.

         10                 Having said that, Commissioner Neal

         11  Cohen, it is good to see you. It just seems like

         12  yesterday you were before us again. It is always

         13  good to see you my dear friend. Having said that,

         14  why don't you introduce yourself for the record and

         15  those with you. And if you have a prepared

         16  statement, please feel free to read it.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you,

         18  Chairman Robles.

         19                 I am Neal Cohen, Commissioner of the

         20  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

         21  Alcoholism Services, and seated to my far left is

         22  Dr. Michael Lesser, the Medical Director for the

         23  Department. To my immediate left is Mr. Dan Still,

         24  First Deputy Commissioner, and to my right is Elsie

         25  DelCampo, Deputy Commissioner for Program Services.
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          2                 I appreciate the opportunity to

          3  testify this afternoon about assisted outpatient

          4  treatment, or AOT, a significant addition to the

          5  continuum of mental health care now available in New

          6  York City.

          7                 Assisted Outpatient Commitment was

          8  created by an act of the New York State Legislature

          9  in August 1999, as you know. The legislation, also

         10  known as Kendra's Law, provides for court ordered

         11  outpatient treatments for those mentally ill

         12  individuals whose histories of non-compliance of

         13  treatment have resulted in repeated hospitalizations

         14  or violent behavior.

         15                 The law authorizes certain categories

         16  of persons to file petitions requesting a court to

         17  order assisted outpatient treatment for persons

         18  meeting the eligibility criteria.

         19                 The law further authorizes the court

         20  to order the subject of a successful petition to

         21  comply with a treatment plan developed by the

         22  Department of Mental Health and approved by the

         23  Court.

         24                 The AOT program consists of

         25  categories of court ordered treatment that must

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  include a case manager or Assertive Community

          3  Treatment services, or ACT team, and which may also

          4  include other services. These optional services are

          5  medication, periodic blood tests or urinalysis to

          6  determine compliance, individual or group therapy,

          7  day programming activities, alcoholism or substance

          8  abuse treatment, counseling and testing, supervised

          9  living arrangements and any other services in our

         10  local services plan.

         11                 If an individual who is the subject

         12  of a petition has executed a health care proxy, any

         13  directives included in the policy will be taken into

         14  account by the courts in determining the treatment

         15  plan.

         16                 And additionally, the court must find

         17  by clear and convincing evidence that the treatment

         18  proposed in the plan is the least restrictive

         19  treatment appropriate and feasible for the

         20  individual.

         21                 The AOT law also specifies that the

         22  order containing medication must specify the classes

         23  of medications and dosage ranges, the beneficial and

         24  detrimental side effects, and whether the medication

         25  should be self-administered or administered by
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          2  authorities.

          3                 To be eligible for AOT, an individual

          4  must meet several criteria. He or she must be at

          5  least 18 years of age, and diagnosed as suffering

          6  from a mental illness.

          7                 The individual must be unlikely to

          8  survive safely in the community without supervision.

          9  The individual must have a history of failing to

         10  comply with treatment that has resulted in two

         11  hospitalizations and a psychiatric inpatient unit or

         12  a forensic mental health unit within the last three

         13  years.

         14                 The law also provides that an

         15  individual is eligible for AOT if he or she has

         16  committed one or more acts of serious, violent

         17  behavior towards self or others, or has made threats

         18  of or attempts at serious physical harm to self or

         19  others within the past four years.

         20                 In addition, the subject of a

         21  petition must be unlikely to participate voluntarily

         22  in the services identified in the treatment plan and

         23  must be in need of AOT to prevent relapse or

         24  deterioration that would likely result in serious

         25  harm to self or others.
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          2                 Finally, the court must find that the

          3  treatment proposed is the least restrictive

          4  treatment available, as well as appropriate and

          5  feasible for the individual.

          6                 It should be noted that Kendra's Law

          7  does not provide for forcible administration of

          8  medication.

          9                 The legislation establishes

         10  categories of persons who may petition a court, to

         11  have someone evaluated for enrollment in the

         12  program. These categories include an adult roommate

         13  of the patient, a parent, spouse, adult child or

         14  adult sibling of the patient, the director of a

         15  hospital where the patient is hospitalized, the

         16  director of a public or a charitable organization,

         17  agency or home where the patient resides, and that

         18  provides mental health services, a qualified

         19  psychiatrist who is keeping or supervising the

         20  treatment of the patient for mental illness, the

         21  director of community services or a social services

         22  official of the court, of the county or city where

         23  the patient is located, and a parole or a probation

         24  officer assigned to supervise the patient.  A

         25  petition must be accompanied by a physician's
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          2  affidavit attesting that the physician is willing

          3  and able to testify, that he or she has examined the

          4  subject no more than ten days prior to the filing of

          5  the petition and that he or she has concluded that

          6  the subject meets the eligibility criteria for AOT.

          7                 If the subject has refused to be

          8  examined, the affidavit should state that the

          9  physician has tried unsuccessfully to examine the

         10  subject and has reason to believe the subject meets

         11  the eligibility criteria.

         12                 Now, the Department has created a

         13  plan to implement the responsibilities the City has

         14  been given by Kendra's Law, and I would like to

         15  review that plan with the Council this afternoon.

         16                 The AOT law creates a need to conduct

         17  assessments of potential recipients, and where

         18  appropriate, bring petitions, draw up treatment

         19  plans, identify providers, monitor that the

         20  treatment is delivered according to the plan and

         21  track that recipients are complying with the plan.

         22                 To discharge these responsibilities,

         23  the Department has designated four Health and

         24  Hospital Corporation facilities to operate as AOT

         25  programs. Under this plan, an integrated AOT team
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          2  will be based at each of the four hospitals. Each

          3  hospital's team will consist of two units, a central

          4  coordinating team and two or more mobile community

          5  teams. Under this plan, Bellevue Hospital will cover

          6  Manhattan, North Central Bronx Hospital will cover

          7  the Bronx, Woodhull Hospital will cover Brooklyn and

          8  Staten Island, and Elmhurst Hospital will cover

          9  Queens.

         10                 I am pleased to report that the State

         11  psychiatric centers, while not required to do so,

         12  have agreed to act as AOT programs for the patients

         13  under their care who may require petitions.

         14                 In addition to these hospital-based

         15  teams, the Department will itself establish an

         16  internal AOT unit that will be responsible for

         17  overseeing the program, monitoring the City's

         18  compliance with the responsibilities, and

         19  administering the mandated reporting to the State

         20  Office of Mental Health.

         21                 When a report is received about a

         22  person who may benefit from AOT, a social worker on

         23  the AOT team will do an initial telephone screening.

         24  If as a result of this screening the social worker

         25  concludes that the individual may qualify for AOT, a
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          2  psychiatrist will be assigned to assess the

          3  individual. The psychiatrist will arrange a

          4  face-to-face interview, either at the team office or

          5  in the individual's home or other location.

          6                 The team's social worker will gather

          7  information regarding the individual's treatment

          8  history and will interview significant others

          9  regarding the individual's present situation.

         10                 Based on the evaluation, background

         11  information and any relevant materials received from

         12  previous treatment providers, the psychiatrist will

         13  decide whether to pursue a petition for AOT. In some

         14  cases, the AOT team may determine that it is

         15  appropriate to persuade the individual to

         16  participate voluntarily in treatment rather than

         17  pursuing a court order. These individuals will be

         18  asked to enter into agreements whereby the AOT teams

         19  will monitor their compliance. They will also be

         20  assigned a case manager. If they fail to remain

         21  complaint, the AOT team may determine to file a

         22  petition.

         23                 In instances where an AOT program has

         24  received an investigator report and has determined

         25  to bring a petition, the coordinating team physician
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          2  who has examined the patient will formulate the

          3  treatment plan jointly with the team social worker.

          4  The subject, his or her treating physician and other

          5  person requested by the subject must be given the

          6  opportunity to participate in the development of the

          7  plan. The law also specifies that the Court cannot

          8  order a category of treatment not included in the

          9  plan. Attorneys working for HHC will file the

         10  petition along with the treatment plan. When a

         11  petition is filed, the court will order a hearing

         12  within three days advising all parties of the

         13  hearing date.

         14                 Mental health legal services will

         15  represent the subjects of petitions at no cost,

         16  unless the subject chooses to hire a private

         17  attorney at his or her own expense.

         18                 The Court will hear testimony at the

         19  hearing and the examining physician must testify in

         20  person.

         21                 Based on the testimony presented by

         22  all parties, the Court will determine whether the

         23  subject meets the DOT eligibility criteria and that

         24  AOT is the least restrictive treatment alternative.

         25                 In cases where the petitions are
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          2  brought by parties other than the AOT teams, the

          3  court will order that the Department develop a

          4  treatment plan within three days.

          5                 The physician developing the

          6  treatment plan must testify. If these conditions are

          7  satisfied, the court will then approve the treatment

          8  plan.

          9                 Court ordered services to subjects of

         10  AOT petitions will be delivered through the existing

         11  mental health and substance abuse delivery system in

         12  New York City.

         13                 Referrals to providers will be made

         14  directly from AOT teams. The AOT teams will have the

         15  responsibility for executing treatment plans and

         16  monitoring the ensure that the services are provided

         17  according to the individual's treatment plan. The

         18  individual's AOT unit, with the support of the

         19  Department's Borough Offices, will monitor the

         20  capacity and utilization of case management and ACT

         21  Team programs in New York City, and will implement

         22  utilization review tools to ensure that clients are

         23  treated at the most appropriate level of care.

         24                 In cases where the subject of a

         25  petition refuses to be examined, the AOT law
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          2  provides that the court can order the individual to

          3  be transported to a hospital for no more than 24

          4  hours to be evaluated.

          5                 In cases where a patient under an

          6  order does not comply with court ordered treatment,

          7  and the treating physician feels that the patient

          8  may be in need of hospitalization or immediate care,

          9  the treating physician may request that the

         10  appropriate AOT team direct the removal of the

         11  patient to a hospital for evaluation.

         12                 The patient may be held for

         13  evaluation for up to 72 hours, but they must be

         14  released whenever it is determined that they do not

         15  meet the admission criteria.

         16                 The AOT law creates the need for a

         17  significant expansion of case management and ACT

         18  capacity in New York City.

         19                 In response, the Department has

         20  created a plan to expand case management capacity

         21  with present resources. Staff of the Department are

         22  working with supportive case management and

         23  intensive case management providers to create

         24  utilization management procedures that will make

         25  certain clients move through the programs at
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          2  appropriate rates. If there are presently clients

          3  receiving this level of care who can be successfully

          4  treated at other community based programs, it will

          5  free up some capacity and make slots available to

          6  persons who may be in greater need of services.

          7                 It should be noted no one will be

          8  denied treatment and appropriately to make room for

          9  an AOT client.

         10                 The Department is also directing a

         11  proportion of its year 6 reinvestment allocation to

         12  support the implementation of programs to address

         13  the AOT population.

         14                 In addition, a total of $870,000 has

         15  been identified to develop a full range of

         16  comprehensive case management services throughout

         17  the City.

         18                 The Department anticipates using some

         19  of these resources to enhance existing supportive

         20  case management or SCM programs, as well as to

         21  create additional programs.

         22                 While the Department's efforts are

         23  significant, the need for additional resources to

         24  meet the demands of AOT will require the

         25  participation of the state.
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          2                 I am pleased to report that the

          3  Governor recently announced a package of mental

          4  health initiatives for next year, which will include

          5  funds to support the City and create the services to

          6  meet the needs of the most seriously mentally ill

          7  individuals.

          8                 An additional $52 million will be

          9  allocated statewide for service expansion, and the

         10  Department may choose to use New York City's share

         11  of this funding to offset the cost of AOT-related

         12  service expansion.

         13                 While additional case management

         14  services are being created to meet the expected

         15  influx of clients from the AOT program, it should be

         16  noted that the expansion of these services has been

         17  a Department priority for some time.

         18                 It is likely that with additional

         19  case management capacity, this system will be able

         20  to steer clients into appropriate services early

         21  enough in the course of their illness that resorting

         22  to AOT may not be necessary.

         23                 Additionally, AOT clients should not

         24  be isolated from mainstream clients. The Department

         25  will encourage providers to include AOT clients
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          2  among their client population.

          3                 Assisted outpatient treatment adds an

          4  important element to the mental health service

          5  system in New York City, the law provides us with an

          6  important opportunity to close some of the cracks

          7  through which too many mentally ill persons have

          8  fallen, mainly to their own detriment.

          9                 It is the Department's belief that

         10  while AOT is not a service that will be required by

         11  a large proportion of mental health consumers, it is

         12  an important service for those individuals who fail

         13  to comply with their treatment as a result of their

         14  illness.

         15                 In addition, the planning of AOT has

         16  afforded the system the opportunity to reflect on

         17  the array of services available to the most

         18  seriously ill individuals and will result in the

         19  expansion of services to meet their needs.

         20                 This concludes my testimony, and we

         21  will be happy to address your questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

         23  thank you very much.

         24                 Let me perhaps, because I think in

         25  fairness about the plan, the execution, the
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          2  monitoring, that I will let my colleague, the Chair

          3  of the Subcommittee deal with, not only today, but

          4  as we move ahead, but there are some things that I,

          5  as the Chairman of the Health Committee, that

          6  oversees also that Subcommittee, I need to be clear

          7  in my mind and then maybe my colleagues and members

          8  of the Committee would also ask questions. But

          9  before I do that, please not that Council Member

         10  Pedro Espada from the Bronx has joined us. I know he

         11  was here. But, again, I want to say that you will

         12  see Council members come and go because there are

         13  other hearings going on.

         14                 Commissioner, in your testimony you

         15  mentioned all of this appropriation of funds of

         16  which, correct me if I am wrong, that only kicks in

         17  if the Governor, who now is requesting, I believe,

         18  about $124 million, $125 million to be appropriated

         19  by the State Legislature, if that gets included,

         20  then all of the resource dollars you were mentioning

         21  would kick in; is that fair to say, sir?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: A portion of the

         23  costs needed to operate the program would kick in.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes. But the

         25  point I am trying to get to is, and it is my
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          2  understanding that Kendra's Law was supposed to when

          3  signed commence on April 1 of next year, yet the

          4  Governor chose, through his executive powers to say

          5  we will execute it immediately.

          6                 However, in the current fiscal year

          7  budget that was adopted by the State Legislature,

          8  the $125 million is not in the budget; is that fair

          9  to say, sir?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, if we are now

         12  mandated, and this is a state mandate; is that fair

         13  to say?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We must implement

         16  it immediately, which you in your testimony said I

         17  think was November 9th or November --

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: November 8th.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I beg your

         20  pardon?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: November 8th.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of this year.

         23  One, how are we going to implement this law when we

         24  have no state dollars coming from the State that I

         25  am aware of in this Fiscal Year?
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          2                 Two, I am not aware, and my colleague

          3  can help me in this, too, when we adopted the City

          4  budget on June the 5th, I am not aware of any

          5  appropriation of funds in the adopted budget of the

          6  City to implement Kendra's Law.

          7                 Am I correct in what I am saying,

          8  sir?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, now, if we

         11  have now implemented this law on the 8th of

         12  November, one, what is the cost to us in this Fiscal

         13  Year up to when? And where are we getting the money

         14  to implement it? Is there a budget mod that will be

         15  coming before this Council in this Fiscal Year in

         16  order to not only implement, carry out but pay for

         17  these services that you have mentioned in your

         18  testimony?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, I am going

         20  to have Dan Still give you some real detail here.

         21                 As you rightly recognize, we were

         22  given 90 days from the signing of the legislation,

         23  which brought us to November 8th to launch the

         24  program. So, we saw this as an opportunity, but

         25  obviously without new funding we needed to be very
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          2  creative with respect to what we have in our

          3  existing budget allocations.

          4                 As you know, the Council added, it

          5  was $500,000 in total from which we were going to

          6  use $300,000 in this current fiscal year to apply

          7  for additional case management services that we will

          8  now use to support the Kendra's Law implementation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Not to cut you

         10  off, because that was the question I was going to

         11  ask. I just want to make sure of what you just said.

         12  So that when you refer to on page seven, where the

         13  staff and the Department are working with SCMs and

         14  ICMs providers, some of that money that you were

         15  using is the money that we appropriated into this

         16  current budget, so that I can dispose of that

         17  question?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, that's

         19  correct.

         20                 And the allocation by the Council for

         21  what is targeted for case management activities.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         23                 However, there is --

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Clearly that is a

         25  small piece.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I want to set the

          3  record straight. There is no dollars in the current

          4  budget, neither the state nor the city, to implement

          5  Kendra's Law; is that correct?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And whatever

          8  money is in there, at least on the City side,

          9  because I am not aware of the State, it was because

         10  of the addition to programs that the Subcommittee

         11  and this Committee in consultation felt we needed to

         12  address, of which I can recall Council Member Una

         13  Clarke nudging me about case management and other

         14  things.

         15                 So, if you take that scenario, I know

         16  if nothing else of at least $200,000, other than

         17  that there is no other source that we know of; is

         18  that correct?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct. Nothing

         20  targeted.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, how much

         22  will we need between November 9th until June 30th?

         23  Or at least if the State, which I repeat, I am in

         24  this Council 15 years, I was a member of the State

         25  Assembly for six years. The six years that I was in
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          2  the Assembly, I don't recall if we ever passed the

          3  budget on April 1. So, in fairness to us, how much

          4  money will we need to put into the budget to move

          5  ahead, and mind you, I am just getting numbers and I

          6  will let Council Member Clarke get into the details,

          7  but to implement there is an expense; how much will

          8  we need in order to carry out this state mandate

          9  that has no funding in this current budget?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course, it is

         11  really contingent upon how many individuals are

         12  going to be court ordered to be participating

         13  through this Kendra's Law, and we have at this point

         14  an estimate, a potential number.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What is that

         16  number, sir?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The potential

         18  number might be as many as 76,000 individuals.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Give me dollars

         20  and cents, sir.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: How much will we

         23  need, because see you are evading the question. I am

         24  not going to get into the programs and how they are

         25  being run, that I will let the Council person. I
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          2  have to deal with a budget that has no dollars in it

          3  to implement in this law. It is not because I am

          4  against it. Because I am not going to sit here in

          5  front of the media and the public and give the

          6  impression that we are going to do so much, and I am

          7  not aware there is money to do it.

          8                 So, the question is, Commissioner, is

          9  there going to be a budget mod coming before the

         10  Council in order for us to put the money in the

         11  budget?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, there will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         14                 When is that going to happen, and how

         15  much money is that going to be?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We see a need for

         17  up to $12 million in order to operate the programs,

         18  the coordinating teams I described in HHC. The $12

         19  million assumes the full complement of 7,000

         20  individuals at a bear minimum, just to create the

         21  infrastructure, even if we have a much lower number,

         22  that would be approximately $6 million. So, to

         23  operate the teams in HHC, and that small

         24  infrastructure in the Department, the range is

         25  anywhere from $6 million to $12 million. And that is
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          2  without the case management activities which are

          3  mandated by the law. That is our own implementation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But, again, and

          5  let me share with my colleagues, and the reason I

          6  have not shared it with them is because I was

          7  briefed by you sir and the number that was given to

          8  me when we were briefed was the following: And the

          9  purpose of this hearing is because I was told that

         10  in a budget mod coming before us shortly, and it was

         11  really going to be done in November. It just so

         12  happened I would not sign off until we had a hearing

         13  to really understand what Kendra's Law is, what it

         14  is supposed to do, how much money it is going to

         15  cost us, and that is why we have this hearing, and

         16  that is why we have a joint hearing, there is going

         17  to be a budget mod. There is a plan. I must tell

         18  you, the last number that I saw, or at least I was

         19  told, I didn't see it, I was told, would be $5.7

         20  million -- 5.4. But if you are telling me that in

         21  HHC alone you need $12 million, and that is

         22  excluding, if I am hearing directly the case

         23  management, then somewhere between whenever we do

         24  get this budget mod and we pass it, or somewhere

         25  between January and May, the cost for this fiscal
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          2  year alone we need to put into the budget, and we

          3  don't know how much that is, other than maybe for

          4  the moment it is $5.4 million. And that is not

          5  including case management, if what you are saying is

          6  correct.

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's what I

          8  said.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Whatever the

         10  number is, forget about the 125 million that the

         11  Governor now all of a sudden woke up after he had

         12  maybe diarrhea of the mouth and implemented Kendra's

         13  Law real quick, his $125 million really is not going

         14  to kick in until the state fiscal year of next year;

         15  is that correct, Commissioner?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, whatever we

         18  spent in Fiscal Year 2000, whatever we spent, is

         19  going to come out of our pockets with no hopes of

         20  getting the money back; is that fair to say or am I

         21  wrong?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         24                 Do we have any idea of what the

         25  dollar amount is? And mind you, I want to be clear,
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          2  I am not against Kendra's Law, I want it to work,

          3  but the one thing I am not going to be part of, a

          4  charade that leaves the public impression that we

          5  are finally going to deal with a problem to help

          6  people in need, and we start off with a bang in

          7  press conferences in saying all of these nice things

          8  that are going to happen, and the one thing that I

          9  am not comfortable with in order to do it, is the

         10  money.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, the number

         12  that I gave you before when I said there was a

         13  minimum of $6 million, the 5.4 million refers to a

         14  nine-month year, because starting in November we

         15  already lost three months of the fiscal year. So,

         16  annualized for the following year that could be as

         17  much as $6.7 million. So that is at the low end, and

         18  5.4 is the low end for FY 2000.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: But at the high

         21  end, if the enrollments go to the upper limit, we

         22  are looking at 11.9.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Two more things,

         24  and let me also say that we have been joined by

         25  Council Member Phil Reed from Manhattan and the
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          2  Bronx, and then I will ask Council Member Clarke and

          3  then my colleagues if you have questions and then I

          4  will come back for some more after I allow my

          5  colleagues.

          6                 Let me just ask you these quick

          7  questions.

          8                 Number one, you mentioned hospitals,

          9  or at least facilities under HHC, I believe you have

         10  mentioned that there will be, that under this plan

         11  there will be a team within Bellevue Hospital to

         12  cover all of Manhattan. There will be a team in

         13  North Central Bronx to cover all of the Bronx. There

         14  will be a team in Woodhull Hospital to cover all of

         15  Brooklyn and Staten Island, and there will be a team

         16  in Elmhurst Hospital to cover all of Queens.

         17                 Are all of those teams up and running

         18  currently?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: They are.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And will this be

         21  a contract between your agency and HHC?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Will there be

         24  another contract, which is typical of HHC, that goes

         25  like DOH, HHC, St. Barnabas -- are there going to
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          2  be, and let me be clear that this chair will not be

          3  happy, I haven't spoken to Una Clarke, but the

          4  question is: You are saying to me the Department of

          5  Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism

          6  Services will be contracted out with HHC; will HHC

          7  implement, fulfill its contractual obligations, or

          8  somewhere along the line will we have to have a

          9  hearing where some of us get uptight and go crazy,

         10  because HHC then subcontracted or contracted out to

         11  a voluntary sector?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, it is a

         13  direct contract, no subcontracting.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Council

         15  Member Clarke.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Commissioner, let me just ask some

         19  questions about the procedure in implementing the

         20  law. I see all of the criteria. Which will come

         21  first, will the Department approve before it goes to

         22  court, or the court approves and then you do

         23  something? Just give us the scenario as to how

         24  somebody gets committed to this treatment? What will

         25  be the process? Will they go to court first, or will
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          2  they come to you first? Who will the person get --

          3                 MR. LESSER: I will be happy to answer

          4  that for you, Councilwoman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, please.

          6                 MR. LESSER: We envision operating

          7  this way and it is currently happening in all of the

          8  four hospitals. Family members, neighbors, can call

          9  any of these four teams in that borough and each has

         10  a phone number. We have established an 800 number in

         11  our department that gives those phone numbers out to

         12  the public. They can call that number and speak to a

         13  social worker on the phone, and give her the

         14  information about the individual they were talking

         15  to.

         16                 She will make a triage assessment

         17  over that phone whether that person needs a

         18  follow-up, maybe needs AOT petition. And if she

         19  thinks that is indicated, she will have the family

         20  come in, simultaneously try to obtain the medical

         21  records from the various hospitals the person has

         22  been at, and often times establish a meeting with

         23  the individual who is involved with the petition,

         24  and also be assigned to a psychiatrist.

         25                 The psychiatrist with meet with the
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          2  individual, meet with the family members, and they

          3  will decide whether an AOT petition is appropriate.

          4                 If it is, they will then do the court

          5  papers, put together a treatment plan and then go to

          6  court and have a hearing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, I remember

          8  the whole issue of early intervention and the Family

          9  Court and at some point in time when the judges just

         10  say this is not why I am a judge, I have no idea

         11  about the magnitude of service that any one person

         12  may need. Do you envision at some point in time a

         13  judge saying, how do I know how chronically ill this

         14  person is, how often they will need medication, why

         15  should I, a judge, order the treatment?

         16                 MR. LESSER: The judges currently make

         17  orders for retention in hospitals, medication over

         18  objection in a psychiatric hospital, and it is also

         19  done in Manhattan, the pilot at Bellevue, the

         20  Kendra's Law pilot.

         21                 So, we met with the Court

         22  Administration several times, the judges are aware

         23  of the law, they are aware of the obligation under

         24  the law and the law is going to work. We don't think

         25  that will be a problem ongoing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay,

          3  Commissioner, as a result of this new mandate, can

          4  you tell us if you have made some new hires

          5  dedicated to this?

          6                 If so, who they are? What are their

          7  expertise? And how are they going to respond to this

          8  new mandate?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, each

         10  facility is doing their own recruitment locally. We

         11  are not doing that for them. And they are obviously

         12  given the short time frame, but nevertheless with an

         13  expedited recruitment and procurement hiring, they

         14  are sufficiently staffed to be able to begin as they

         15  did on November 8th.

         16                 Within the Department we have a small

         17  unit and Dr. Lesser, who is the Medical Director

         18  heading the AOT unit at this time, and we have other

         19  staff who are very experienced. We have our own

         20  crisis intervention services, as you know, that have

         21  overseen the mobile crisis teams, and the assertive

         22  community treatment teams in New York City now for a

         23  number of years, so we feel that working in concert

         24  with Bellevue team, which has carried out a 4-year

         25  pilot on involuntary outpatient care commitment,
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          2  from which the Kendra's Law has evolved, that there

          3  is additional expertise in the community. And Dr.

          4  Talson, who heads that team, has been very involved

          5  with us in providing technical assistance to all of

          6  the hospitals and all of the teams based on his

          7  experience in the field and working with the whole

          8  network of the provider community and reviewing what

          9  the Bellevue experience was. So, we feel that we

         10  have gotten a fairly good start in educating and

         11  providing technical assistance to the providers in

         12  this initiative.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Usually

         14  part of my concern comes down to who are these

         15  professionals, how prepared are they to fulfill the

         16  role and to be supportive of a person that is

         17  mentally ill, especially somebody who is chronically

         18  mentally ill, and in your testimony on page five you

         19  talked about mental health legal services, and I

         20  just wanted to ask, do you have an attorney or

         21  attorneys on staff who have expertise in mental

         22  health and issues of mental health? As I know from

         23  time to time I have to call on the Urban Justice

         24  Center and their attorneys to give me some insight

         25  as to what some of these legal things are,
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          2  especially if I am going to deal with the mentally

          3  in Rikers Island. I usually have to ask them to come

          4  and give me some consultation here before I run my

          5  mouth off. So, are you getting persons and attorneys

          6  with expertise, and who have dealt with persons with

          7  mental illness, or just some attorney who wants a

          8  job?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, you know, it

         10  is clear that since we are using HHC's programs,

         11  these are all facilities that have significant

         12  psychiatric inpatients as well as outpatient

         13  services, so they are very familiar with mental

         14  health care, the outpatient care services that are

         15  needed to discharge people to inpatient care, and

         16  they have lawyers currently who represent the

         17  hospitals when they have to take patients to court,

         18  in order to retain them, when the individual

         19  challenges their retention in an inpatient unit.  So

         20  they are using lawyers who have familiarity. There

         21  is not doubt that additional lawyers are being hired

         22  and I know that they are being assessed on the basis

         23  of the experience with this population.

         24                 I feel very comfortable that given

         25  the realities of the people that we serve in this
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          2  City with HHC and at the Department, that it is not

          3  an issue of expertise, it is really going to be an

          4  issue of having the services, having the capacity in

          5  the system, because potentially there is a very

          6  large number, a significant influx of new people

          7  into the system. That could be a very positive

          8  development because we very much value another tool

          9  in our armamentarium to bring people into mental

         10  health care, particularly the seriously mentally ill

         11  who historically have not benefitted from the

         12  services.

         13                 So, I don't feel that expertise is

         14  going to be an issue here, it is really going to be

         15  a matter of care, coordination and integration of

         16  services that are out in the community, as well as

         17  building the capacity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: My final question

         19  for now is going to be the New York City Police

         20  Department and the mentally ill and the

         21  confrontation on additional training that they may

         22  need to assist when they find somebody who may be

         23  resistant to care, who may be mentally ill; is there

         24  some coordination that is going on? Who is going to

         25  answer the question?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 MR. LESSER: We have had several

          3  meetings with the police and criminal justice about

          4  coordinating the various pick-up orders. In the

          5  Kendra's Law there are two pick-up orders, a 24-hour

          6  one, which is a court order for evaluation and the

          7  other if someone is non-compliant in the

          8  compensating and three-day pick-up, and so we have a

          9  draft protocol with the police and how it is going

         10  to operate. The teams in this hospitals in the

         11  borough will be the coordinator on those pick-up

         12  orders. The court will send them a court order for

         13  the pick-up, they will notify the police, as well as

         14  the City psychiatrist to go out with the police to

         15  remove that individual on the 24-hour order, as well

         16  on a three-day order, the psychiatrist in the

         17  community treating the individual will call that

         18  team and request removal. They will decide whether

         19  to warrant it or not. If it is, that hospital then,

         20  Elmhurst or Woodhull, will call the police and also

         21  send the city psychiatrist to go out with the police

         22  to remove the individual to the hospital.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Because a lot of

         24  times family members are even afraid to call because

         25  they remember Eleanor Bumpers, and so do I.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I just want to

          3  comment on this issue, that these are planned

          4  transports of people potentially from home into the

          5  emergency room. If it were a true emergency, a

          6  crisis situation, like any other emergency, that

          7  would require an immediate response. We are talking

          8  about individuals who we have assessed to be, who

          9  are living in the community who we feel would

         10  benefit from Kendra's Law implementation with having

         11  ongoing care, so we would have an opportunity to

         12  work with the local precinct to establish the plan

         13  for bringing that person to the hospital emergency

         14  room so there could be considerable amount of

         15  thought given.

         16                 And the psychiatrist, the mental

         17  health professional, in that transport will be on

         18  site and is given the lead with respect to being

         19  able to encourage the individual to accept the court

         20  order for it to come in and appear before the judge

         21  or to come to the emergency room. So there will be a

         22  mental health professional as part of that approach

         23  to the individual.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before I call the

         25  next Council Members, let me also say we have been
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          2  joined by members of the Committee. Council Member

          3  Quinn from Manhattan, and also Council Member Povman

          4  from Queens.

          5                 Council Member Rivera.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Good

          7  afternoon.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 I guess, once again, not only you,

         10  Mr. Chairman, both Chairpersons, Una Clarke, must be

         11  commended for putting this hearing together, and I

         12  must say even the Commissioner. He has a very well

         13  organized piece of paper here.

         14                 First of all, let me go back to a

         15  figure that you identify. You identify 7,000

         16  individuals. Where did you get that figure from?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In doing this

         18  analysis, what we looked at is the number of -- in

         19  trying to establish what is the universe of people

         20  with mental illness who could fall under Kendra's

         21  Law; we looked at people who had been brought in for

         22  care, for inpatient service by the Police Department

         23  as EDPs, we looked at a database of people that have

         24  had two or more hospitalizations over the course of

         25  a two-year period, which is one of the eligibility
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          2  criteria, we looked at a population of individuals

          3  who are identified as having serious mental illness

          4  who have been released from one of the correctional

          5  facilities, which is also one of the eligibility

          6  criteria, some history of violence and involvement

          7  in the criminal justice system. That actually gave

          8  us a number of 41,000 plus individuals.

          9                 Of the 41,000, we then did some

         10  estimation based on projections of referrals,

         11  whether it would be ranging from a low number to a

         12  middle range, that we could easily reach a number

         13  like 7,000. But it is really a guesstimate at this

         14  point.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: In an

         16  estimate, could we say that many of them could be

         17  homeless people?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am sorry?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Could we say

         20  that many of them happen to be homeless people?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, there is no

         22  question at some point in time many individuals with

         23  serious mental illness either have been or may have

         24  been homeless. In order for us to get a referral,

         25  this is most likely going to be someone who is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  connected, who has a history of being in the mental

          3  health system, who might currently be homeless, but

          4  I would expect that the vast majority at the time

          5  that they would be referred to us are not homeless

          6  individuals. Because if they are referred to us

          7  through the correctional system, then they are not

          8  homeless obviously because they would be referred at

          9  the point of discharge.

         10                 If they had been referred from the

         11  inpatient hospital side, they are not homeless. But

         12  it is certainly possible that of that number of

         13  7,000 there would be a significant number of

         14  individuals who were homeless. But that is not the

         15  way we would identify them through this street

         16  outreach programs, because what we do now, I mean it

         17  is always possible, but the street outreach

         18  eligibility is there, but we expect there would be a

         19  smaller number of people.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay, for

         21  argument's sake, you have identified there are 7,000

         22  people out there in need of your services, but they

         23  don't want to come in, they are not going to want to

         24  come in voluntarily, so you trigger some kind of

         25  court action, and it seems to me, and I could be
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          2  wrong, it seems to me that we have a problem within

          3  the court system because they are bogged down with

          4  so many cases.

          5                 Do you have any idea how this is

          6  going to work? Because I am talking about 7,000 and

          7  by the time you begin to offer some kind of a

          8  treatment to the first of the 7,000, how long is

          9  that process going to take, whether it is the mother

         10  or a parent calling you for help?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The law requires

         12  that the hearing take place within three days of the

         13  filing of the petition. So, the burden is on the

         14  court system, you are correct, to be able to arrange

         15  their schedules to be able to put these hearings on

         16  line within three days, so that individuals have an

         17  opportunity to be heard.

         18                 Now, I can't tell you what potential

         19  impact of 7,000 cases, if we were to reach that

         20  number, would have on the burden to the court system

         21  itself.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I still find

         23  that very -- we are all trying to do our best to

         24  hope that we can come up with a way of avoiding what

         25  happened to Ms. Kendra Webdale and to Mr. Edgar
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          2  Rivera, which by the way happened within our

          3  transportation subway system, and I know that does

          4  not fall within our jurisdiction. But I just hope, I

          5  just wish also that those that are here from the

          6  Administration, besides you, Commissioner, can

          7  perhaps convince either DOT or the Administration

          8  that we need to deal also with safety in the

          9  subways.

         10                 I hope that as a result of this

         11  hearing we can somehow contribute to that effort.

         12                 Also, I know that even though that we

         13  have a law again, and you stated a little while ago

         14  that you will use the local precincts, but the law

         15  still says that you cannot force medication. So, I

         16  still don't understand really how that is going to

         17  work.

         18                 And I just hope that, I hope that

         19  this works and I hope that there will be no need for

         20  anyone else to the use of interpretation of any

         21  other kind of laws, because recently we had someone

         22  hit a lady with a brick, and it seemed like we threw

         23  our net out there and we see that throwing out the

         24  net, reaching out to the homeless, and getting all

         25  of the homeless, did not capture this individual.
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          2                 I hate to mix one thing with the

          3  other, but I just thought that I wanted to put that

          4  out there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And if you want

          6  to ask your last question I will put you on round

          7  two, because I have several members.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I also apologize

         11  to my colleagues because I should have done that, I

         12  was aiming to, but you get distracted. I wanted to

         13  inform you that one of our colleagues is celebrating

         14  her Sweet 16, so I wanted to personally say happy

         15  birthday to Una Clarke, it is her birthday and she

         16  is at a hearing. I just wanted to make sure we all

         17  got that out of the way.

         18                 Council Member Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 It is just feeling like we just saw

         22  each other, right?

         23                 This is a very complicated issue and

         24  a very sensitive issue, and I think that --

         25  unfortunately, I haven't had a chance to read
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          2  through all of your testimony, I appreciate that you

          3  and your agency are trying to find ways to implement

          4  a program that I think perhaps was hastily put

          5  together by another legislative body -- you start

          6  talking about the Assembly and they cut off your

          7  microphones, the State Legislature. That is power,

          8  huh? And so we are left trying to do this. And some

          9  of my colleagues and I were talking about unfunded

         10  mandates, et cetera, et cetera, to try and do this.

         11  And I find it interesting because it is sort of like

         12  a back -- I think it finally gets to the point of

         13  recognizing that we need services for the mentally

         14  ill that too many politicians don't have the nerve

         15  to say that up front, so there is a back-handed way

         16  of looking, making it look punitive, but in the

         17  meantime we may end up with the resources and

         18  services for people who need them. If that is the

         19  way to get them, I guess we should work with that.

         20                 My concern about the program, and I

         21  think that really we need to be evaluating this six

         22  or eight months from now when we have had a chance

         23  to look at it, is what opportunities do those people

         24  who may be put into this program have to appeal the

         25  implementation of this program?
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          2                 So, in other words, you know, I am

          3  living with Pedro, God help us, and -- because I can

          4  see it says roommate -- and I am starting a rumor --

          5  but for whatever reason, he decides that I should,

          6  you know, be enrolled in this program and we go

          7  through all of this, what is the process that the

          8  person has to appeal?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course, they

         10  are represented by a mental hygiene legal services

         11  lawyer or their own private attorney  at the court

         12  hearing that is held to determine whether the

         13  application of Kendra's Law to them is appropriate.

         14                 It is a six-month assignment to

         15  participate in the assisted outpatient treatment,

         16  and then at a six-month period the court orders

         17  expire and the case has to be reheard by the judge,

         18  so the petitioner would then have to come back and

         19  ask for an up to one year extension, and that has to

         20  be done on a yearly basis.

         21                 So, there are ongoing opportunities

         22  to look at the individual with respect to his or her

         23  capacity now to step down to a different level of

         24  care and possibly move away from court ordered

         25  outpatient treatment, either into community life
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          2  with treatment or without, depending upon the

          3  progress they make.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And that raises

          5  the other two questions, and I will try to phrase

          6  them briefly.

          7                 One, you talked about people being

          8  released from prison, are there programs in place

          9  now, or is there any way this allows for the

         10  opportunity for when people are released from prison

         11  that in fact they are referred and there is some

         12  connection to a mental health service provider that

         13  in fact has to be enforced as a provision?

         14                 Because it seems to me that an awful

         15  lot of people are being put out in the street after

         16  they have served their 90 days or whatever they

         17  serve, without any connection to community-based

         18  providers.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As you may

         20  recall, from the testimony I gave the other day,

         21  there is a New York City Link Program, which has for

         22  the past several years, targeted individuals with

         23  serious mental illness who are coming out of our

         24  jails and prisons.

         25                 Now, unfortunately, although we have
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          2  grown to where we are now serving 1,000 clients who

          3  were released from jails and prisons, there are a

          4  much larger number that still need to be served, and

          5  through additional funding that we have received, we

          6  are planning to expand beyond Rikers and it will now

          7  be covering every borough level detention center.

          8  So, we would most likely be able to see a doubling

          9  of that number, even without these resources.

         10                 But the numbers of individuals are

         11  thought to be in the range of 10,000 to 15,000 even

         12  from jails and prisons, so you can see we still have

         13  a long way to go before we would be able to capture

         14  the real need that is there in the correctional

         15  health system. And that is one of the positive

         16  aspects of this funding.

         17                 I think you are right on the mark

         18  when you say that sometimes it takes initiatives

         19  like this to bring the attention to a population

         20  that has been overlooked so that as much as we have

         21  wanted to serve that population, and we have had

         22  City tax levy support, as well as State dollars, we

         23  now have through Kendra's Law a significant

         24  opportunity to expand, and it is estimated that a

         25  significant number of people who previously weren't
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          2  getting this discharge planning and care

          3  coordination on release from jails and prisons will

          4  now be able to as they qualify for this program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The last

          6  question is, it says in here something about not

          7  being able to give them medication. And it seems to

          8  me, I remember that working in the HIV/AIDS

          9  community, when we were dealing with the

         10  tuberculosis epidemic, and some of the resistant

         11  strains that we had this DOT, Directly Observed

         12  Therapy, that seemed to work fairly well for people,

         13  and I am curious, why in the law does it say that

         14  you can't force them to take medication?

         15                 And secondly, and just theorizing,

         16  what would be the -- what is wrong with the idea of

         17  having people on a weekly basis come in to take

         18  their medication, do it on a voluntary basis

         19  initially, so if that is the concern, and perhaps

         20  there is some way to test whether they are taking, I

         21  think it is psychotropic drugs that they would be

         22  taking, so that we can assure ourselves that in fact

         23  they are medicating themselves regularly?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You know, the

         25  legislation does allow for the incorporation of
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          2  medication plan into the treatment plan. The gap in

          3  the law, as I understand it, is that there is no

          4  absolute requirement that an individual take their

          5  medication. This has been done on the inpatient

          6  hospital side in what Rivers B. Katz (phonetic)

          7  allowed the City to do is you can impose medication

          8  on people who pose a danger to themselves.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You can do what?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You can impose

         11  medication in a hospital setting on someone who

         12  poses a danger to themselves or to others, you can

         13  go to court to insist that they take medication

         14  while they are in the hospital, but it has not been

         15  applied to people living in the community.

         16                 So, at this point in time what we are

         17  able to do is we have a medication order, we monitor

         18  their functioning in the community, but we can't

         19  absolutely impose the medication on them if they are

         20  not going to take it. What we can do, though, by

         21  monitoring their status and their functioning, is if

         22  they are deteriorating, bring them back to the

         23  emergency room and to an inpatient service where

         24  they can be medicated.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          4  Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 I would like to follow-up on Council

          8  Member Reed's last question. In your testimony,

          9  Commissioner, on page two, you mentioned that the

         10  clauses, and whether the medication should be self

         11  administered or administered by authorities, and my

         12  question before Council Member Reed touched on it

         13  was going to be, what does self-administered mean?

         14  Does that mean having people come in and someone in

         15  authority watching as they swallow a pill?

         16                 Does that mean having them come in,

         17  providing them with the medication and allowing them

         18  to leave? What exactly --

         19                 Just run down for us what the process

         20  would be.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It takes both

         22  forms. There are intramuscular medications that are

         23  administered -- medications that are administered

         24  intramuscularly that normally are given by a nurse

         25  or a physician and people are usually receiving
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          2  those medications in a physicians office or in a

          3  clinic by a registered nurse, so that could very

          4  well be part of this treatment plan, that they would

          5  come in on a biweekly basis, that is a frequently

          6  interval to this. Self-administer would mean where

          7  you do provide prescription and the person takes

          8  tablets or capsules and basically takes their own

          9  medication.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And, again,

         11  following up on Council Member Reed's question, is

         12  there -- and the image I have in my head, and I

         13  don't mean to belittle it or try to be amusing, is

         14  the scene of One Flew Over The CooCoos Nest where he

         15  gets the medication, he downs the cup and then five

         16  minutes later he is spitting the medication out. I

         17  mean, is there a way of other than their behavior,

         18  observing their behavior of insuring that the

         19  medication is being taken?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. I mean,

         21  there are ways that health professionals have to

         22  observe somebody taking the medication to see

         23  whether in fact they have swallowed that medication,

         24  but we are talking about a level of care for

         25  somebody in the community, not in a hospital. So,
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          2  there is obviously a latitude for an individual not

          3  to take the medication as frequently as the

          4  physician has ordered it.

          5                 So, at this point, legally our only

          6  option is to monitor their functioning and their

          7  mental status to determine whether there is evidence

          8  that we think that they are stable and participating

          9  in the programs that the treatment plan has been

         10  court ordered for their participation.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: My last question

         12  is following up on Council Member River's question

         13  about the figure of population of 7,000; can you

         14  break that down, or can you estimate borough by

         15  borough what each borough's population could be?

         16                 And actually to cut to the quick, to

         17  cut to the question, why for an entire borough of

         18  Brooklyn and Staten Island is one team, one ACT team

         19  sufficient to cover two boroughs, and how is that

         20  decision reached?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Initially because

         22  of the need to start the program so quickly, within

         23  90 days of the signing of the bill, it was expedient

         24  to work with HHC, given the procurement policies

         25  that apply to HHC with a Mayoral agency so it
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          2  wouldn't have to go through an RFP process that

          3  would cause delays in our ability to implement this

          4  program.

          5                 As you know, there is no acute care

          6  facility in Staten Island. We are staffing the

          7  Woodhull Program for an additional team so that they

          8  have more capacity than the other teams in the other

          9  boroughs. Over time, as if this number does grow, we

         10  would expect there would be an expansion, a

         11  significant expansion in the number of coordinating

         12  teams and that we would look for more proximity to

         13  the neighborhoods where we are seeing most

         14  referrals.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         19  Council Member Espada.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you very

         21  much. I will be brief because I know we are trying

         22  to get my friend Mr. Rivera up.

         23                 I was wondering, though, before you

         24  were talking about the expansion of the NYC Link

         25  Program, however, we have never gotten any
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          2  information on that program.

          3                 What kind of success have you had

          4  with the NYC Link Program? What type of numbers do

          5  you have for people that reenter Rikers? What are

          6  the follow-ups like?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are actually

          8  engaged right now with a very comprehensive

          9  evaluation of that program, it would be somewhat

         10  premature. We have been asked by the correctional

         11  health, both from the correctional health HHC side,

         12  as well as from the Department of Correction side to

         13  expand the program because of their impression, that

         14  it is having a positive impact, but it would be

         15  premature right now for me to say that in fact

         16  objectively the outcomes are one way or another, so

         17  I would like to get back to you on that.

         18                 It is a model that when it was first

         19  piloted several years ago in New York City it was

         20  found to have a positive impact on retention and

         21  participation and ability of individuals to stay out

         22  of the jails and prisons when they in fact were

         23  participating in treatment for their mental

         24  illnesses.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And do you
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          2  feel by expanding the program that you would be able

          3  to cover the number of people that would be a

          4  candidate for it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, our

          6  expansion, without Kendra's Law was still going to

          7  be still a small proportion of the total need, now

          8  the additional dollars for discharge planners and

          9  case management, the Kendra's Law eventually we

         10  expect to receive will allow for a very significant

         11  expansion of services to the correctional health

         12  population.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: What do you

         14  think that will mean in terms of the numbers, people

         15  to assist?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, even

         17  without Kendra's Law we would be serving 2,000

         18  people. I expect that this would take us to -- well,

         19  our discussions with the Department of Correction

         20  had suggested that there would be 1,500 individuals

         21  in the correctional health system who would be

         22  immediately eligible for participation, so that is

         23  the number we are going with, and we would have that

         24  funding available to support those services. So, we

         25  are looking at --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: With or

          3  without Kendra's Law money?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: With Kendra's

          5  Law.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: With Kendra's

          7  Law money?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Right.

          9  Fifteen-hundred additional, on top of who we serve

         10  now. So, we are looking, we are seeing a doubling of

         11  the current capacity.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: But that is

         13  hypothetical because we don't know when we get that

         14  Kendra's Law?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me, because I

         18  don't see anyone else that is asking for questions,

         19  so let me go into round two, and I do have some and

         20  then I will again ask Council Member Clarke if she

         21  has any follow-up questions.

         22                 Commissioner, the question is not one

         23  of the negative, I just need to understand so that

         24  when we give all of our colleagues who are not here

         25  today or not members of this Committee, and all of a
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          2  sudden they find out that these teams, like, you

          3  know, in Manhattan, in the Bronx, in Queens,

          4  Brooklyn with Staten Island, I want to make sure

          5  that at least I and some of my colleagues can answer

          6  them.

          7                 In the selecting of these HHC

          8  facilities, what was the criteria and why were they

          9  selected when there are 11 acute care facilities?

         10                 And I am not against -- how can I be

         11  against my own hospital at North Brooklyn and

         12  Woodhull, but I hope no one says that the reason why

         13  they pick Woodhull is because Victor Robles is the

         14  Chairman of the Health Committee. I want -- Woodhull

         15  Hospital can stand on its own two feet.

         16                 So, can you tell me how the decision

         17  came to be based upon what?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Sure. Well,

         19  certainly in Manhattan Bellevue completed the

         20  four-year pilot, so they had a team that was already

         21  on-site that had the experience for the past several

         22  years and who had carried out the program, so that

         23  was the easiest decision to make.

         24                 Additionally, Elmhurst Hospital in

         25  Queens has a CPEP, a Comprehensive Psychiatric
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          2  Emergency Program, which means they have a mobile

          3  crisis team and they have additional capacity in

          4  their emergency room to have 72-hour observation

          5  beds, as well as Mr. Extended social services

          6  available through them.

          7                 So, with respect to the Bronx, we

          8  wanted to look at the Bronx Network that is in HHC

          9  that has the CPEP and in discussion, which actually

         10  is served by Jacobi and North Central Bronx and the

         11  discussion with HHC was that at this time NCB would

         12  be a good choice for that. They were part of that

         13  network, the staff with Jacobi and NCB were in the

         14  same affiliation and frequently there were similar

         15  staff who were overseeing programs in both sites.

         16  And I will go with your explanation for Woodhull.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: See why you and I

         18  are good friends?

         19                 Let's move from whatever we do with

         20  the upcoming budget mod to appropriation of funds,

         21  because, again, many of us believe, like one of my

         22  colleagues said, it is long overdue to stop talking

         23  about the problem and put our money where our mouth

         24  is. But let's move on besides this year, but even

         25  next year, if the State gives us money.
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          2                 I am assuming then, this Kendra's Law

          3  and the implementation will become part of a budget

          4  process every year; is that fair to say?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct. Based on

          6  the volume that we recognize from one year to the

          7  next.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, it

          9  fluctuates. We perhaps see more money, our hope is

         10  maybe we see less money because if we see less

         11  money, it means less people need the services, I

         12  understand it.

         13                 Let me just go on record, and I want

         14  to go back to my original question. In the

         15  Department of Health, prison health services is

         16  contracted out by the Department of Health, which

         17  you are the Commissioner, to HHC, which then HHC

         18  decides to contract out to the private sector. This

         19  program currently, you said will be contracted out

         20  by the Department of Mental Health, Mental

         21  Retardation and Alcoholism Services to HHC.

         22                 Let me go on record as the Chairman

         23  of this Committee, without any consultation with any

         24  of my colleagues and the Chair of the Subcommittee,

         25  any attempt by HHC to contract it out from
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          2  themselves, then I will see you at budget time. Did

          3  you get the message?

          4                 Because the responsibility and the

          5  burden by the law is placed in the Department of

          6  Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcohol

          7  Services, nobody should be passing on somewhere

          8  else, because the law is clear. The law says the

          9  Department of Mental Health.

         10                 So, I want to be clear that if we

         11  keep moving forward on this Kendra's Law, and I hope

         12  the state does put its money where its mouth is, and

         13  stop having press conferences with the Governor

         14  signing a bill and not one cent in the budget.

         15                 And we will find the money to

         16  implement it. But I want to be clear, if this is

         17  going to become part of a budget process, any

         18  attempt by HHC to pass it on to somewhere else, then

         19  you are going to have a little problem with this

         20  Committee. Because this week, once again, and I

         21  don't have all of the facts, but once again prison

         22  health services is in the papers because of an

         23  inmate who allegedly did not get the kind of proper

         24  services that we are paying for, and that contract

         25  is over, as you know, $2 million plus. So, I just
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          2  wanted to say that, Commissioner.

          3                 Now, I have my second question which

          4  is two-part, and I hope you will appreciate as a

          5  person of color and coming from the minority

          6  community: How will people subject to the AOT be

          7  able to get mental health services and medications

          8  if they do not have Medicaid? And if the State, as

          9  promised, allocates funding in the next budget to

         10  pay for medication for the people who have been

         11  recently released from hospitals, jails, or prisons,

         12  and are awaiting Medicaid eligibility, this will not

         13  provide the person the access to other essential

         14  Medicaid funding services, such as day treatment,

         15  outpatient clinic services, drug treatment, et

         16  cetera. How will people subject to AOT orders, who

         17  do not have Medicaid, get these services?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Although a very

         19  high percentage of individuals with serious mental

         20  illness are usually determined to be eligible for

         21  Medicaid, very often they don't have Medicaid

         22  coverage at the time that they are seen or

         23  discharged from the hospital, and we had that issue

         24  as we established the Link Program with the jails

         25  and prisons because we wanted to get them
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          2  medications but they had no entitlement to pay for

          3  the medications they needed to receive. And we

          4  worked something out where we funded for the

          5  medications working with a national pharmaceutical

          6  house that provided medications to the jails and

          7  prisons on people's discharge and we paid for that.

          8                 In the Governor's budget for next

          9  fiscal year, there is a $15 million allocation for

         10  medication for this population that you are

         11  referring to who are uninsured or who are awaiting

         12  their entitlements.

         13                 So, we expect that that should not be

         14  a problem, and we are certainly going to be

         15  monitoring that very, very carefully.

         16                 And of course, the acceptance for

         17  individuals who are uninsured by community-based

         18  organizations, is one that we will be monitoring as

         19  well.

         20                 As you know, the HHC has a policy

         21  that should apply here, and there are bad debt and

         22  charity pools available to the Corporation that

         23  provide some subsidy for their services to people

         24  who are uninsured, but naturally it has to be

         25  tracked.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

          3  that, and I appreciate the answer and I have no

          4  problem with the answer, but let me just share with

          5  you my concerns.

          6                 I look forward to next year if the

          7  Governor, and you have to understand, I and Jose

          8  Rivera and Pedro Espada, we all served in the

          9  Assembly before we came here, and you know how that

         10  body works, not only the assembly, the legislature,

         11  it is not like in the Council where you have the

         12  Mayor and the Council and we are in the majority and

         13  he cuts and we put back and I don't have to worry

         14  about it. And as the Majority Whip of the Council,

         15  if he vetoes, I count 34 votes and take it or leave

         16  it, and I will see you in court.

         17                 In the State Legislature it is three

         18  to tango. My concern is right now we are mandated,

         19  and you said as of November 8th we have implemented,

         20  and as far as I am aware, that money that we are

         21  talking about, we won't even see it until next

         22  fiscal year, for the next fiscal year. Who is going

         23  to monitor, since the court mandates routes through

         24  not HHC necessarily or the law, I am assuming that

         25  your agency is the lead agency, who is going to
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          2  monitor between now and whenever we get the money,

          3  to make sure that whoever falls through the cracks,

          4  like Council Member Rivera's questions to you about,

          5  and one happened to be, and I thank God he is here

          6  with us, while others perhaps may not be as

          7  privileged, how do we make sure that someone who

          8  really needs the help doesn't fall through the

          9  cracks simply because we talk a good talk, but the

         10  medication, the processing, that is I think the

         11  question that some of us, while we are not against

         12  the program, it is our obligation and our

         13  responsibility to make sure that we hold somebody

         14  accountable, and it is not the State Legislature,

         15  because if the State Legislature and the Governor

         16  really were serious when he signed Kendra's Law he

         17  would have put his money where his mouth is. I

         18  repeat, we have to find $5.4 million in this Fiscal

         19  Year that we will not see from the State of New

         20  York. And I am not going to rely upon HHC with its

         21  policies that one day they sit with us and say it is

         22  all rosy and after we adopt the budget they close

         23  ten dental clinics, and we can't find $6 million to

         24  reopen the dental clinics, which is important too,

         25  yet we are going to find $5.4 million, on something,
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          2  that with all due respect, other than like the

          3  dentist pulling the teeth, we were not players to

          4  whatever came out of Albany.

          5                 So, I just want you to know what my

          6  concern is, and I respectfully ask and I want to

          7  know who will oversee and make sure that HHC and its

          8  contract really carry out what was contractually

          9  entered between you and them?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are already

         11  putting in place a very tight monitor. We are

         12  getting daily log-- we have a log book at each

         13  facility, and we are receiving information on a

         14  daily basis of the number of inquiries for AOT, and

         15  the status of each case that they are handling,

         16  whether some are being turned away, what reason they

         17  -- when I say turned away, I mean as found not to

         18  be eligible or not appropriate --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, right.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Or finding some

         21  less restrictive type of intervention. So, we are

         22  going to be monitoring this very closely. We have

         23  staff who are going to be doing that, and obviously

         24  since the scrutiny is there from a number of

         25  sources, but because this is a very important
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          2  program, we will dedicate the necessary resources to

          3  make sure that we are doing it correctly.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I ask then,

          5  are you prepared-- well, I am assuming that when you

          6  say you are going to monitor, or you are going to

          7  evaluate, so you are not going to wait until the end

          8  of the program. Would you provide this Committee and

          9  the Subcommittee, perhaps on a quarterly basis, so

         10  we can see that what you just said is really being

         11  done?

         12                 I was tempted to ask you on a monthly

         13  basis, but I have a problem with monthly because we

         14  have problems getting information that w can get.

         15                 I am trying to see, if we need to put

         16  a resolution, we will do that. A resolution is a

         17  statement, it is not a law.

         18                 Let me be clear. Commissioner, do you

         19  think that this Committee and the Subcommittee will

         20  receive from you on a quarterly basis that data so

         21  that we can see so that when my colleague whose

         22  responsibility is to oversee your agency in terms of

         23  the Subcommittee, perhaps this information could be

         24  shared not only in that Committee but all of the

         25  members of this Committee and the Council.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We can?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You don't need a

          5  resolution.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. And that

          7  will start just like November 8th? We figured then

          8  November 8th, December 8th, January 8th, February

          9  8th?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Let me suggest

         11  here, on a quarterly basis, we are in discussion

         12  with the state right now, because there is also an

         13  accounting that the state requires of the

         14  municipality so I think it would make the most sense

         15  if we were in sync with you and the State together,

         16  so we don't add burden to our system.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: But I anticipate

         19  that it will be on a quarterly basis, and we should

         20  make that available to you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you. You

         22  are a gentleman.

         23                 Council Member Clarke.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: This becomes even

         25  more complicated as the testimony goes on and we
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          2  start looking at how is this going to be

          3  implemented. And I want to go back to court.

          4                 Which court will rule on these,

          5  Criminal Court? Which court will rule on it?

          6                 And if so, how many new judges are we

          7  going to need in the courts, recognizing the backlog

          8  in the courts right now, just arbitrarily signing

          9  off people and putting them away because of the

         10  overload, how are we going to make sure?

         11                 MR. LESSER: It will be the Supreme

         12  Court of the State of New York, and we have been

         13  told that they will assess the flow and number of

         14  patients that are coming through the courts, and

         15  then make an assessment of how many resources they

         16  need.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, you mean they

         18  are going to appoint some new Supreme Court judges?

         19                 MR. LESSER: I can't say that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I am about to put

         21  my application in, since I think I know something

         22  about mental health from over these couple of years

         23  that I am chairing. But beyond that, let me just ask

         24  also, on page seven you come up with a figure of

         25  $870,000 that you are using right now. Can you tell
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          2  me whether that money is part of accruals in the

          3  last budget that you identified? Or where did this

          4  money come from that you have identified? Can you

          5  tell us what makes up that sum of money that you are

          6  using?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. Well, of the

          8  $870,000, 300 is coming from the Council allocation

          9  for case management services. Then there was a case

         10  management provider --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am sorry,

         12  again, I am caught a little off guard now.

         13                 This so-called Council case

         14  management, I know what she discussed with me, but

         15  she didn't discuss Kendra's Law with me --

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, it is not

         17  Kendra's Law --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: She discussed

         19  case management.

         20                 Have we signed off on that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. It was FY

         22  '99.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, no, the

         24  question is --

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That was the
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          2  other part --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Have we signed

          4  off on this?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

          6                 It was the other part of that DJJ

          7  discussion that we had, that a portion of the

          8  dollars were going to go to the Department of

          9  Juvenile Justice for case management.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         11  that, yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: And the other

         13  portion, this $300,000, would be applied to a

         14  Citywide, you know, for Kendra's Law implementation

         15  for case management. And that was consistent with

         16  the Council's target, but it didn't specify Kendra's

         17  Law at the time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         19                 It is just that I thought I was in

         20  the room, but I just don't remember at all ever -- I

         21  know what I said, I just don't remember that

         22  Kendra's Law was the thing that was said to me.

         23                 But, okay, listen, $300,000 is light

         24  stuff in this place.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: So, the
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          2  additional, so that is 300 of the 870. The

          3  additional money is coming from State dollars that

          4  we had received for reinvestment funding and there

          5  was another program that was state dollars, a

          6  provider that closed its program that was providing

          7  case management services, so this is a way where we

          8  are redirecting some funds that are available to us

          9  that has been targeted for generic case management

         10  services, that naturally will be very relevant to

         11  serving this population.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there any

         13  money from accruals that you may redirect as a

         14  result of your most recent audit of your

         15  voluntaries? Could you use that money? Is it

         16  possible to use that money?

         17                 I am just trying to figure out where

         18  you are going to fill in this hole.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: At

         20  this point in the fiscal year, we would be reluctant

         21  to do that. And also, if we were to use accruals, we

         22  want to make sure we can annualize them, so I think

         23  we have the same concern as the Council members

         24  expressed, as whether or not the State appropriation

         25  is in fact going to be coming forward. So, at this
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          2  point we are not recommending using accruals for

          3  this.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          5                 Let me just go back to the 1996

          6  Immigration Reform Act which bars non-citizens from

          7  participating in any public benefits program. What

          8  would happen to me if I was legally admitted to the

          9  United States, not yet a citizen, became seriously

         10  mentally ill, persistently mentally ill, and needs

         11  treatment? Not eligible for any benefits, period,

         12  what would happen to me?

         13                 And this is a City of many recent

         14  immigrants from many different places, so I am just

         15  asking.

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: My General

         17  Counsel assures me that they would have full

         18  eligibility to participate in this program.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Who would pay the

         20  reimbursement? Would it be full federal money? Would

         21  it be state? How would it be paid for? Because you

         22  are barred from.

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: All of the

         24  appropriations that we have discussed that are City

         25  and State appropriations, would apply to these
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          2  communities as well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          4                 Then my final question, Commissioner,

          5  is going to be on the program at Bellevue. Is it a

          6  program that is going to be duplicated in the other

          7  programs? How successful has that been? How have you

          8  measured its success, and is it transferrable to the

          9  other hospitals that you have now identified? And

         10  then added to that, since the issue of the hospitals

         11  that were identified came up, and Brooklyn is

         12  probably the largest borough, you added Staten

         13  Island to it, you chose one hospital. There are two

         14  other municipal hospitals in Brooklyn that was not

         15  identified, either Coney Island or Kings County,

         16  both of which has psychiatric care, and Staten

         17  Island is closer to that area; why weren't any of

         18  those considered.

         19                 And I am not rivaling the chair at

         20  all for at benefits that go to North Brooklyn,

         21  because that is not my purpose. It is to make sure

         22  that people get service, get it quickly, and get it

         23  as close to them as possible when they are in

         24  crisis.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: She wants it
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          2  closest to her hospital.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: No, Coney Island

          4  is fine with me. They chose it.

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, your

          6  question is two parts.

          7                 With regard to the Bellevue Program,

          8  there was an evaluation that was done of the program

          9  and was widely distributed and we had an opportunity

         10  to have public forum and comment on the program, and

         11  it was widely recognized that Bellevue did a very

         12  good job, that individuals who historically had not

         13  been participatory were now engaged in services

         14  after they were released from the hospital, and that

         15  the model of a coordinating team was having an

         16  impact that was very positive in terms of bringing

         17  the provider system together, so they knew that if

         18  at any time the individual were to start to perhaps

         19  decompensate or not attend the programs, that they

         20  could call upon the team, the coordinating team to

         21  make the home visit and help work with the

         22  community-based organizations and the client to try

         23  to bring them back into the system. And that safety

         24  net or back-up seemed to be very effective, because

         25  at the end of the day, the analysis showed that the
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          2  individuals who were in the program were spending

          3  fewer days in the hospital for the period of 11

          4  months after discharge, significantly less time in

          5  the hospital than they had spent in the previous

          6  year prior to their admission into the program.

          7                 Additionally, the coordinating team,

          8  the clients who were participating with the

          9  coordinating team did not feel a sense of coercion

         10  they were very participatory and there wasn't a

         11  sense that court ordered treatment translated into

         12  an oppressive sense of compulsory participation. In

         13  fact, these individuals seemed to be engaged and

         14  felt very positively about that.

         15                 And this is why we chose to go

         16  forward with that model. You know, we were testing

         17  it in this environment, it was working through the

         18  Bellevue Program and we thought that it would extend

         19  to the cultures of the other boroughs as well, and

         20  that those facilities had very good expertise

         21  because they had been working with those same

         22  patients.

         23                 The specific issue of the facilities

         24  in Brooklyn really applies now to the decision that

         25  once we have infrastructure in one facility, rather
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          2  than creating another program in a second, it is

          3  easier to extend the funding to that facility, and

          4  they can have additional staffing and additional

          5  mobile capacity and until we see evidence that the

          6  population is coming predominantly from another

          7  community and overwhelming the resources that we are

          8  offering to Woodhull, we felt that to get started

          9  within 90 days, you know, that this was the most

         10  efficient way to begin.

         11                 We are totally open to the

         12  possibility that over the course of the next six

         13  months and a year we may see a need to expand these

         14  programs and have facilities that are closer to the

         15  communities that the patients are being drawn from.

         16  We will look at that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 Then my final question is going to

         19  be: The 1,500 new units under New York New York II,

         20  does that have any impact on this 125 that the

         21  Governor announced? Is it above and beyond that? Are

         22  we looking to take away some of the money for the

         23  1,500 units of supported housing?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The Governor's

         25  announcement of the 125 million included a $20
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          2  million allocation for supported housing for the

          3  seriously mentally ill that is above and beyond the

          4  allocation that was part of the New York New York II

          5  Agreement. So, we are looking at new supported

          6  housing, not taking away or draining from the New

          7  York New York II proposal.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, I

         12  see no other questions before me, however, this is

         13  an area that this Chair and this Committee will make

         14  sure that the monitor, working closely with the

         15  Subcommittee, and hopefully as we move along in the

         16  process, any further questions or details on the

         17  implementation, we could do that then.

         18                 Like always, I give you the last

         19  word, sir. And this is your time to close your

         20  portion.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I would only add

         22  that, you know, we do see a tremendous challenge, as

         23  well as an opportunity, and while it is unfortunate

         24  that the funding did not come along at the time that

         25  we needed to start the program, we do appreciate
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          2  that OMB has given us a starter so that we could be

          3  in compliance and have the programs in place on

          4  November 8th, and that the Council will look at the

          5  budget modification necessary to help us carry out

          6  the activities at a very high standard. There is a

          7  potential here, and while it is always regrettable

          8  that it takes episodes like the tragedy to bring the

          9  State to address a need that we have known as

         10  existed for a long time, it opens up the door now

         11  for care, coordination and case management services

         12  that have been sorely needed and that the City and

         13  the Council have been trying to support over the

         14  past several years, so it is significant addition,

         15  that when we hope to see engagement of people who

         16  unfortunately have not been able to be participatory

         17  in this service system until now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         19  much, Commissioner.

         20                 Let me, as I call the next witness,

         21  let me ask my colleagues, because I will be asking

         22  of you to do something, and I guess when I get

         23  finished, you will know why.

         24                 As you know, when I opened up these

         25  hearings, I opened up with a prepared statement, and
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          2  in that statement I announced that during the course

          3  of a hearing, that someone who is coming before us

          4  who was a victim, who was one of those young men

          5  from the Bronx who tragedy helped push Kendra's Law

          6  through in Albany, Kendra could not be here. And I

          7  must tell you, as I was growing up in Williamsburg,

          8  since my mother brought me here from Puerto Rico, I

          9  recall after President Kennedy and even before and

         10  after his assassination, there was a book and a

         11  title, and I say to my colleagues that I had never

         12  met Edgar Rivera, but I watched him ever since his

         13  tragedy.

         14                 If there ever is to be a similar book

         15  to be written of Profile in Courage, and truly this

         16  New Yorker represents the best that New York City is

         17  all about. And for those of New Yorkers, we look at

         18  some New Yorkers, particularly New Yorkers who

         19  happen to come from communities of color, you really

         20  want to know about us, know what our culture is all

         21  about, know why this City is so great, and that many

         22  of us, in spite of what you may think, love this

         23  City and even to the point of possibly losing your

         24  life, and I believe that this individual should be

         25  the "profile in courage". And this anti-immigration
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          2  mentality and this anti-less fortunate mentality, I

          3  hope you look at this Profile In Courage, because

          4  this is what our parents who brought us here is all

          5  about, to come to the city of hope and opportunity

          6  and never forget, and to appreciate the beauty of

          7  the City and what it has offered to all of us.

          8                 So, my colleagues, on behalf of the

          9  Speaker of the Council, you as members of this body,

         10  let me introduce to you what I would say is the

         11  greatest profile in courage that New York City has

         12  ever had, let me call then Edgar Rivera.

         13                 And for my colleagues from the Bronx,

         14  if you feel the way I do, and I know you do, and

         15  before Edgar speaks, I will give any member the

         16  opportunity to make a statement. Because I repeat, I

         17  have been here 15 years, and a lot of people have

         18  come and gone, but this is one moment that I would

         19  never forget in my life and I guess I go one day to

         20  meet my maker knowing that I was privileged to meet

         21  this profile in courage.

         22                 So, let me start with the senior

         23  member, I am assuming from the Bronx Delegation,

         24  Council Member Jose Rivera. Again, this is a once in

         25  a lifetime opportunity. We may be lame ducks but not
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          2  dead ducks, so I call upon Council Member Jose

          3  Rivera.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Mr. Chairman,

          5  thank you for calling upon me to also join you in

          6  identifying with your remarks and welcoming to a

          7  very important body, where so many decisions are

          8  made by us, those of us who were sent here by the

          9  Edgar Riveras of our districts to represent them and

         10  to look out for their needs, in a way I wish we

         11  would have been here in a different type of a

         12  setting, but I guess, and your comments, Mr.

         13  Chairman, why does this happens in anyone's life?

         14  Why me? Why him? But you did say something that

         15  Edgar is here, and I guess Edgar probably accepts

         16  that the tragedy that has affected him and his

         17  family who has brought us here today, and to deal

         18  with a law that you reminded us that he also

         19  contributed to, that we are serious, and I am sure

         20  that the Administration is serious to see to it that

         21  what happened to Edgar and to Ms. Kendra Webdale

         22  does not happen again.

         23                 I, before you walked in, Mr. Rivera,

         24  I did mention in my line of questioning, that what

         25  this Committee, under the Chairperson Victor Robles
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          2  and Co-Chair Una Clarke, we will do whatever is

          3  within our powers. I would love to hear at some

          4  point in your comments whether you feel, besides

          5  what we are doing here, whether you feel that the

          6  Department of Transportation, the City of New York

          7  should be doing to make the subway system a much

          8  safer place for all of us, and in the hopes that

          9  what happened to you does not happen again.

         10                 So, having said that (Spoke in

         11  Spanish.)

         12                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: We really

         14  respect you a lot and we thank you.

         15                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I believe

         17  that my colleagues would rather hear from you, but

         18  on their behalf, I don't want Jose to think -- and I

         19  know Jose knows it because we constantly go down to

         20  Puerto Rico (Spoke in Spanish).

         21                 Welcome to City Hall.

         22                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you.

         23                 I come here not with any expertise or

         24  formal education about the issues that are being

         25  discussed here today. I don't come with figures,
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          2  numbers, statistics or anything like that. I come as

          3  a human, unfortunately as a victim as well. As a

          4  victim by a system I believe to have holes in it. It

          5  is a broken system. I think that is obvious. As I

          6  said here, I don't come here with any specific

          7  expertise, and I try to see the whole thing, I try

          8  to see what is in the background, what is in the

          9  foreground. The foreground is obvious, you know. By

         10  the way, I think that, I hope that at this point in

         11  the hearings we can all appreciate that just as we

         12  all here have different traits, personalities,

         13  propensities and, you know, abilities and talents

         14  that so also do the mentally ill, that they are just

         15  as individual as we all are, and it is important for

         16  us to not forget that, and therefore we can't put

         17  them all in one basket.

         18                 I could go on and on about how I

         19  feel, that these people need to be treated on an

         20  individual basis. They need to be looked at as

         21  individuals and whatever treatment they deserve

         22  should be custom tailored and modified to that

         23  specific individual, their needs, their abilities,

         24  you know, not everyone who can accept a group

         25  setting, or whatever, or live alone or so then, we
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          2  have to take that into account.

          3                 I came here, and what is important to

          4  me is really the meats and potatoes about this, you

          5  know. And if we are here to discuss or sort of

          6  justify the expense that is needed to address the

          7  issues of the mentally ill, I think it's sad. I

          8  think it is sad that here we are, we are about to

          9  approach, or end the millennium and to begin a new

         10  one, and that we don't even have a handle on this,

         11  and that is what is needed. I think this politicing

         12  and wrestling about monies, I mean these people

         13  needed our help yesterday, you know? And it is a

         14  touch issue. Kendra's Law itself won't fix it. It is

         15  a beginning, it is just the tip of the iceberg. We

         16  have to kind of peel all of this stuff down and get

         17  to the very heart of it. And I think, as I said

         18  before, we need to address these people as

         19  individuals. After all, they are brothers, they are

         20  sons, daughters, just as I am a father to my

         21  children, a husband to my wife, a son to my mother,

         22  they are too, and we can't just lose sight of that,

         23  you know.

         24                 I don't have the answers. I just

         25  don't. But I do know that we -- I mean, this
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          2  question is going to come up again, you know? And

          3  the question is, who is going to be the next Edgar

          4  Rivera? Who is going to be the next Kendra Webdale?

          5  Who is going to be the next Andrew Goldstein? The

          6  next Julio Perez, you know? I think that is the

          7  bottom line. What are we going to do for these

          8  people? Are we going to wrestle and try to figure

          9  out how -- you know what I mean? There is no need to

         10  justify any sort of expense. I think that we all

         11  need to do what we can as individuals, collectively,

         12  you know, we just need to help these people. There

         13  is no time for this, they really need our help

         14  yesterday. They need it today and they will need it

         15  tomorrow and we need to be there for them.

         16                 I think that these so-called newly

         17  appropriated mental health dollars need to be here

         18  now. Bottom line, those monies need to be here now,

         19  and we can wrestle all we want, and it is not going

         20  to change, it is actually this kind of trickle down

         21  theory and stuff, it doesn't work. We have severely

         22  mentally ill people out there, and those priorities

         23  need to be in place. We need to take the monies and

         24  address those who are most severely afflicted by

         25  mental illness, and then we can work our way down.
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          2                 Concerning Mr. Rivera's question, I

          3  think that, I have not traveled the world, but I

          4  believe that there are cities and countries and

          5  nations that have addressed the issue of public

          6  safety regarding transportation. You know, what is

          7  wrong with having guardrails? This is New York and

          8  we are always rushing and pushing and trying to get

          9  ahead, you know, and this is going to happen again

         10  and there should be something put in place to

         11  prevent these kind of things from happening, in

         12  terms of guardrails or whatever it takes. We have

         13  the technology. They can put sensors, infrared

         14  sensors. You know, we have all seen Startrek, and

         15  these things are possible, they really are. You can

         16  put sensors that indicate if there is any kind of

         17  movement on the tracks to sort of slow down the

         18  train or warn the train that there is something on

         19  the tracks. We can do it, the technology is there.

         20  Again, it may fall down to dollars again, you know?

         21  It is crazy. How do you justify what my legs cost?

         22  How do you come to that figure? How do you come to

         23  what Kendra Webdale's life cost, if we look at it

         24  from a perspective of monies.

         25                 Again, it is sad that here we are in
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          2  this day and time and that the monies are not there

          3  to do what is needed for these people, that

          4  particular portion of society that is afflicted by

          5  mental illness. We can wrestle all we want but we

          6  need that now. So, Albany, send it down.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Council Member Espada has a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: How are you

         11  doing, Edgar?

         12                 MR. RIVERA: Hi.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: I almost don't

         14  know where to begin because there are so many

         15  different things that we have had the opportunities

         16  to speak about, I know that you may find important

         17  to share with folks today, but in the time and the

         18  opportunity, and I know it wasn't a long time, but

         19  in the time and the opportunity that you had to take

         20  a look at Kendra's Law and that you got the

         21  opportunity to take a look at what the Committee, at

         22  what we were talking about before, do you have any

         23  ideas as to what areas you think need to be

         24  developed about Kendra's Law, need to be made

         25  stronger so that you could feel like it was worthy

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  of what New York City should be doing to protect its

          3  citizens?

          4                 MR. RIVERA: We all know that Kendra's

          5  Law, as I said, is just the beginning, you know. It

          6  addresses one issue and that is non-compliance or

          7  compliance with treatment on behalf of the

          8  individual and it gives some sort of leverage or

          9  help to those around these individuals, you know,

         10  family members or whatever, it gives them the

         11  opportunity to entice these individuals to become

         12  compliant with what they need, be it medication and

         13  so forth.

         14                 It is not a fix all. It is not going

         15  to, you know. As I said, I think that in some cases

         16  prolonged treatment is required, in other cases

         17  short-term treatment; nevertheless, our hearts have

         18  to be in this. We have to actually address these

         19  people as individuals. And once we do that, we can

         20  sort of, we have a better assessment of, you know,

         21  what kind of steps are being taken here by these

         22  people.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: For instance,

         24  in your particular case, do you think that Kendra's

         25  Law, as you have understood it today, would have
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          2  assisted you, would have saved you from what

          3  happened to you on the day that you lost your legs?

          4                 MR. RIVERA: I don't see how it would

          5  have hurt me in any way. Sure. Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: From what you

          7  know of the person that did this to you, was he the

          8  type of individual that had people around him that

          9  could have petitioned to have got him the

         10  assistance?

         11                 MR. RIVERA: I believe so. Yes, I

         12  don't have full -- I am not fully informed about his

         13  background and so forth, but I have met people who

         14  have met him and it was clear to these people that

         15  he had problems, you know. He would act belligerent

         16  the symptoms or signs were there, the red flags were

         17  there. And, yes, sure, Kendra's Law could have been

         18  implemented on his behalf by those who saw this kind

         19  of behavior on his part.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: I just wanted

         21  to, not so much as a question to Edgar, I know a lot

         22  of people have seen you and have heard the things

         23  that you have had to say and there is no question

         24  that you are a giant of a man and the kind of

         25  character that you have showed throughout all of
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          2  this is the type of character that we can only hope

          3  that our children would look at as a role model in

          4  the future.

          5                 However, I think it is also important

          6  that we look within ourselves as to what we can do

          7  for not only this case but for folks like you.

          8  Because you know, it is one thing for a group of

          9  people to say things like it takes a village to

         10  raise a child, it takes a village to support one

         11  another, all of that is fine and dandy but it gets a

         12  moment in time where you just have to do things. And

         13  I know that there are lots of things, and I don't

         14  know where the lines are at in regards to this with

         15  us in the City Council, in terms of plugging stuff,

         16  but I know that there are lots of things that you

         17  have got going on and that you need assistance with.

         18  And I think that although it has been trickling in,

         19  I think that New Yorkers have got to look at you and

         20  not just say, hey, this is a heck of a man, this is

         21  a great character that he has shown, I think we have

         22  also got to look at ourselves and say, hey, what can

         23  I do to be able to help this gentleman out for being

         24  the type of man that he is.

         25                 So, you know, and I am glad that we
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          2  went around, I am glad that everyone thinks so

          3  highly of you, but they have also got to get to the

          4  table and do what matters and what counts. And I

          5  know that you have got needs, and I won't plug all

          6  of those things, because I know all of them

          7  personally, I have the luxury and the pleasure of

          8  being able to deal with you on a daily basis, but I

          9  think that people that are interested, and I don't

         10  know where they can call, maybe you can let them

         11  know where they can call, but they definitely need

         12  to reach out to people like you, because you have to

         13  be able to do something for the pillars of strength

         14  in a community, besides just look and stare in awe

         15  of how you would not have been able to do the same

         16  thing in the same position.

         17                 Thank goodness none of us know that

         18  position. As we look at you we can see you are not a

         19  small man. You are not a weakling. I have never

         20  shaken your hand once and felt that there was a lack

         21  of strength on the other side of it. This could

         22  happen to anyone. And I don't know that anyone,

         23  though, would be able to take it in stride the way

         24  you have, and I commend you, and I will continue to

         25  do whatever it is that we can in our neck of the
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          2  woods to make sure that you are treated

          3  appropriately.

          4                 But I call out to all of the New

          5  Yorkers as well to do the same, to reach out to this

          6  gentleman to find out what are the needs that he has

          7  for him and his family so that they can be able to

          8  move forward and live the kind of life that they

          9  want to live.

         10                 I know that you just came from a very

         11  big appointment in your life today, and I wish you

         12  the best with all of those other things. But most of

         13  all, I think that you shouldn't have to ask. I think

         14  New Yorkers should have to be there.

         15                 Thank you very much, Edgar. God bless

         16  you.

         17                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you, I appreciate

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         20  Clarke.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         22  much. It is not lack of manners that I was in the

         23  room when you first came up. Let me thank you for

         24  coming. As Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental

         25  Health, as you can well imagine, we are looking at
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          2  ways in which to make sure that there will be no

          3  other person like yourself to become of a mentally

          4  ill person as you try to travel, or as anyone tries

          5  to travel into the City, and it is those safety nets

          6  that bring us here today the way in which we manage

          7  the mentally ill, and I just want to thank you for

          8  your empathy, because you could have been a bitter

          9  person, but apart from being a bitter person, you

         10  are also helping us to look at ways in which to make

         11  sure that nobody else gets victimized and for that,

         12  I just want to thank you for your profile and

         13  courage. But it also says that you come from a good

         14  home and a good family who taught you some values

         15  about other human beings and so I want to put that

         16  out there.

         17                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: If you can just

         19  on your own reflection, and as you hear us talking

         20  about safety nets and involuntary commitment of

         21  persons who may be mentally ill, if you have had

         22  some time to think about it, what are some

         23  recommendations you would want to make to us as a

         24  City Council?

         25                 MR. RIVERA: Are you talking about
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          2  assisted outpatient treatment?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes. Or any other

          4  -- you know, we have been talking about case

          5  management, we have been talking about medication.

          6                 MR. RIVERA: Yes. Well, all of those

          7  things need obviously to be implemented. But, you

          8  know, I think that in the past we also need to

          9  incorporate things that are not apparently

         10  implemented, such as faith and such as a sort of

         11  holistic approach to, you know, we should not be

         12  complying to a specific way of treating these

         13  people, because as I said before, these people are

         14  individuals. Not all of them have the same needs.

         15  Just like not all mentally or severely mentally ill

         16  people react in a violent manner, or act out like

         17  that. So, we sort of have to have this sort of broad

         18  perspective and approach to how we treat these

         19  individuals and there is nothing in fact to

         20  encourage this sort of customized tailor-made

         21  approach to treating these people.

         22                 I won't even get into the fact that

         23  once these people are so-called treated, or lift up

         24  and whatever incentive they have, let's say someone

         25  that wants to go back to work, you now have these
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          2  issues of like these dark clouds above their heads

          3  concerning benefits that they currently receive,

          4  medical benefits and so forth. So, you know, here we

          5  are trying to encourage people to go forward, and

          6  try to transition them into a sort of life that is

          7  as normal as possible. You know, getting them back

          8  into the workforce be it, or housing or whatever,

          9  and at the same time we are kind of taking away

         10  whatever safety nets are beneath them, and that

         11  leaves a question mark above your head, you know,

         12  how am I to move forward?

         13                 I mean, we have to look at things

         14  from their perspective, you know, their needs. We

         15  have the ability to think this through and so forth,

         16  but we don't have the ability to see through their

         17  eyes and I think we need to take that kind of

         18  approach, you know, what can we do for them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, you know,

         20  my final comment is going to be that for all of us

         21  who feel that something needs to be done, it is when

         22  you do a siting in my neighborhood and your

         23  neighborhood, when somebody has to come to live next

         24  door, we want answers but we don't want to be a part

         25  of the solution.
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          2                 MR. RIVERA: That's right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And for us the

          4  difficulty is how do we provide the supportive

          5  housing that the mentally ill need where they can be

          6  supervised, where meaningful employment is given to

          7  the mentally ill so they feel as productive as I

          8  feel, that becomes the difficulty because everybody

          9  will say, yes, they need a place, but they don't

         10  need a place in my neighborhood.

         11                 MR. RIVERA: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And I think that

         13  is part of the struggle that we all have.

         14                 MR. RIVERA: That's true. And as

         15  Councilman Espada mentioned, that we all as

         16  individuals need to take part in the needs of,

         17  whatever the needs are. You know, this is not just

         18  about the mentally ill, because my mother has been

         19  affected by what has happened to me, my wife, my

         20  children, my brother, my friends. You know, so when

         21  you treat these people, you are actually treating a

         22  whole community.

         23                 Again, it is a tough issue.  You

         24  know, you have this matter of public safety and how

         25  do you calm the fears that these people have, while
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          2  at the same time not trying to infringe on the

          3  rights of the mentally ill. It is a balancing act

          4  there, it is a tightrope that you guys in the

          5  position you have have to walk.

          6                 I think that all -- I mean, we are

          7  all being victimized by this. Communities feel fear.

          8  I think the consciousness of the communities are

          9  affected by this, and I think we need to bring that

         10  about. And there is a lot of information out there,

         11  there is not as much information out there

         12  concerning the mentally ill.

         13                 For instance, I just used to go to

         14  work and this fire, this spark in me now is as a

         15  result of what happened to me. I would not be here,

         16  I would not be concerned about these issues had not

         17  this incident happened to me.

         18                 By the way, I don't see it as an

         19  incident, I used the wrong word. I see what happened

         20  to me as more of an accident waiting to happen.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me thank you

         22  and tell you how much you have enriched my life,

         23  just by coming and expressing yourself, and I just

         24  want to go on record as saying whatever I can do in

         25  my capacity as an elected official, I would want to
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          2  be there for you, and as a person I would like to be

          3  there for you. So, you can call on me any time

          4  personally, and if I can be of assistance, please

          5  know that I will be there, and I thank you.

          6                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you. I appreciate

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Rivera, let

          9  me just say that again, I have been in this body 15

         10  years, and only the last two years I have been

         11  privileged to chair this Committee. One of the

         12  things I have instructed the Counsel to this

         13  Committee, and I will be speaking to the Speaker

         14  tomorrow morning, is that you don't realize what you

         15  did today. You took this whole hearing, and you

         16  actually put a human prospective in front, and it

         17  was not about money. It was about people.

         18                 So, one, I want to thank you again on

         19  behalf of the Speaker and all of my colleagues who

         20  have joined me. But I want you to know that I am

         21  going to be reaching out to you to come back not to

         22  the Committee, but to the Council when it is in

         23  session. Because I believe that as we wrestle with

         24  the things that normally distract us, and wherever

         25  the pressure happens to be greater, you know the
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          2  squeaky wheel gets the oil.

          3                 MR. RIVERA: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I believe that

          5  your presence, not only to this Committee, but to

          6  the institution, perhaps will motivate many of our

          7  colleagues to put a human perspective, rather than a

          8  dollar perspective.

          9                 MR. RIVERA: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, I am

         11  extending and I have instructed the Council to reach

         12  out to you to invite you, I believe, my colleagues,

         13  that what we heard today, I think all of our

         14  colleagues should hear it.

         15                 Again, I never met you, but I saw you

         16  on television, faith, strength, he charges those of

         17  us who are gifted by Almighty God in many ways, and

         18  sometimes we forget that. And the spirit is

         19  incredible. So, I want you to know how much we

         20  appreciate you taking the time to join us and come

         21  before us. And like my colleagues, I assure you that

         22  at any time you pick up the phone, regardless of who

         23  you like to reach, I think the fact that Edgar

         24  Rivera is now a household name, I dare say none of

         25  us would ever sleep right if we are not our
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          2  brother's keeper. So, again, thank you so much for

          3  joining us this afternoon.

          4                 MR. RIVERA: Thank you. I appreciate

          5  your words.

          6                 I just want to say that we have the

          7  opportunity here to become a beacon of hope for all

          8  communities, even those outside of this state. You

          9  know, I think that we can take this test and turn it

         10  into a testimony, and I think that we can take this

         11  mess and turn it into a message. And I hope that we

         12  can do that.

         13                 Thanks for having me.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Our last witness is Constance Lesold.

         17                 Oh, I am sorry. Why don't you push

         18  the button, and identify yourself for the record.

         19                 MR. MORENO: My name is Noel Moreno. I

         20  am Edgar's best friend. I just want to say this,

         21  that it is very important as human beings, and you

         22  are given the right to govern us in this country,

         23  and it is time that you guys put aside all of this

         24  bickering about where the money is going to go, who

         25  is going to get this, who is -- it is time that we
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          2  take care of the common person that lives in these

          3  streets. These people that have no voice, you are

          4  their voice. And we need to stress that, that these

          5  mental patients do have families, they are like us,

          6  flesh and blood, same air that we breathe every day,

          7  but they don't have a voice, and they have become

          8  like third citizens in this country, they just put

          9  them on the side. Well, it is time that we should

         10  take care of our common man. I mean, that is what

         11  God said, that we are all equal in his eyes. And if

         12  you get a chance to read Roman's 13, verse eight to

         13  ten, it is love yourself, and love your neighbor,

         14  and that is all I have to say.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         16  much. I thank you, again. And again, be prepared to

         17  come back, but this time in this room when we have

         18  all the Council members where you will I am sure be

         19  given the courtesy of the floor to address the whole

         20  body.

         21                 Thank you, again.

         22                 Constance Lesold.

         23                 MS. LESOLD: My name is Constance

         24  Lesold, and I am representing only myself today

         25  really, although I am a member of the Brooklyn
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          2  Mental Hygiene Court Monitors Project, and no doubt

          3  would not be here if I were not a part of that body.

          4                 I am also a professional social

          5  worker and concerned with these matters for the last

          6  50 years, and living in Brooklyn for the last 30.

          7                 I want to thank you for holding these

          8  hearings today and congratulate you on it. In

          9  Albany, your colleagues on the judiciary committee

         10  held absolutely no hearings before they passed

         11  Kendra's law. So, at least you have given an

         12  opportunity for people to come and speak, even if

         13  they didn't know about it, most of them.

         14                 I also want to thank you very much

         15  for having Mr. Rivera to speak, that was probably

         16  the most moving testimony I have ever heard in my

         17  life. I did have the privilege of meeting him in

         18  Albany. He probably doesn't remember it, because I

         19  didn't talk to him that much, but I had the

         20  privilege of meeting his parents and I want to say,

         21  you are absolutely right, Councilwoman Clarke, he

         22  comes from an extraordinarily fine and understanding

         23  family, who I think are going to make a great

         24  contribution. Hopefully, to putting a human face, as

         25  you have said, on the care of people, and the
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          2  respect for people and their rights who have

          3  psychiatric disabilities.

          4                 I want to put into the record today

          5  my own list of profiles in courage, and those are

          6  the members of the State Legislature who either

          7  voted against Kendra's Law, or did not vote in New

          8  York City, I won't go through the whole list.

          9                 In the State Senate, that includes

         10  Tom Duane, Gonzalez in the Bronx, Markey on Staten

         11  Island, Senator Markowitz in Brooklyn, Senator

         12  Mendez, Senator Paterson, Senator Santiago, who many

         13  of you may know is a social worker by profession,

         14  Rosado, Smith and Schneiderman.

         15                 In the Assembly that included the

         16  head of the Higher Education Committee, Assemblyman

         17  Sullivan, who I assume voted against Kendra's Law

         18  because all of the professions had opposed it. NASW

         19  opposed it, the American Psychological Association

         20  opposed it, the Bar Association opposed it, amongst

         21  the religious groups who provide so much of the care

         22  of people with psychiatric disabilities in New York,

         23  the Catholic Conference opposed it, the Federation

         24  of Jewish Philanthropies opposed it, we could go on

         25  and on with all of the groups who opposed Kendra's
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          2  Law and the reasons for doing so.

          3                 I think it is very important to put

          4  on the record, that as far as Goldstein was

          5  concerned, and I hate to put the care of those with

          6  psychiatric disabilities in terms of one human

          7  being, but as far as Goldstein was concerned, he

          8  looked for treatment everywhere. And Kendra's Law

          9  would be an entire failure for him, because he would

         10  not be able to petition for himself. And who knows

         11  who might petition for him or not petition for him.

         12  The people who least need to be listened to most

         13  intently when we form our programs are those who

         14  have the problem.

         15                 I was recently at the NARPA

         16  Conference in Kentucky, that is the National

         17  Association of Rights, Protection and Advocacy,

         18  which is many of the leading lawyers in the mental

         19  health field, and the few psychiatrists who are

         20  totally concerned now with treatment that is not

         21  totally focused on drugs, and others. And at that

         22  conference I think some hope was given that there

         23  will be resistance to this bill in New York City and

         24  some concern that whereas these laws have been

         25  passed in other states, they have not been
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          2  implemented all that fully, that New York intends to

          3  implement Kendra's Law with a vengeance and this is

          4  not perceived as in the interest of the care of

          5  those with psychiatric disabilities and it is

          6  certainly, and the way the law is written there is

          7  some fear and questions about rights.

          8                 For example, just to give you one

          9  example, people who have had two postpartum

         10  depressions or two hospitalizations as a result of a

         11  postpartum depression in the past might have gone on

         12  forever and never had any psychiatric disability

         13  again and you wouldn't know it and there would be no

         14  stigma. This specifically affects women, men don't

         15  have postpartum depression. Although, they do

         16  identify with their wives.

         17                 If there is a bad marriage going on

         18  there, if there is a bad housing situation going on

         19  there, that husband can go in and petition and, you

         20  know, people have recovered over the years from

         21  psychiatric disabilities on their own. Before drugs

         22  were ever invented people were recovering in state

         23  hospitals and going home and going on with their

         24  lives. So, this issue of drugs is not the only

         25  thing.
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          2                 Just very quickly, I want to say that

          3  I also submitted a letter that was sent to me from

          4  the Legislative Women's Office of New York State. I

          5  submitted it because I think if you read it you will

          6  find they do not know what is in the law they

          7  passed.

          8                 I also have submitted a pledge to

          9  resist forced psychiatry in the community by Support

         10  Coalition International, and I will read it and it

         11  will speak for me, although I am not considered to

         12  be either a consumer or a survivor, I am a member of

         13  the organization.

         14                 I pledge to oppose the spread of

         15  forced psychiatric procedures into the community,

         16  such as court ordered psychiatric drugging of people

         17  living at home. These human rights violations

         18  endanger everyone's liberty. I pledge to speak out

         19  against the news media campaign that portrays people

         20  with psychiatric labels as dangerous and subhuman.

         21  This is similar to the propaganda campaign against

         22  the German Jews in the 1930s, the prepared public

         23  opinion for their extermination. And I might say

         24  that my husband came from Berlin, Germany, if he

         25  were alive today, unfortunately he lost his legs, he
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          2  would be here and he would read this for himself.

          3                 I pledge to unite with the

          4  International Movement that is rising up to break

          5  the silence, resist the passage of these laws,

          6  revoke those laws that have already passed and

          7  create human alternatives.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         10  much. Seeing no other business before this

         11  Committee, I close these hearings.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 2nd day of December 1999.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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